**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Orangeburg County  
Court of General Sessions**

**Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Case No. 2011-GS-38-1833  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213006**

---

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,**

**v.**

**RESPONDENT.**

**JULIAN C. YOUNG,**

**APPELLANT.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**TARA DAWN SHURLING  
Attorney and Counselor at Law**

**3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A  
Columbia, SC 29204  
(803) 738-8622  
(803) 738-1600 FAX  
tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com**

**ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.**

**RECEIVED**

**DEC 19 2013**

**50 COURT OF APPEALS**

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

**Did the trial court err, and thereby violate the Appellant's right to confront his accusers, by admitting into evidence hearsay testimony concerning statements made by the victim-deceased to a law enforcement officer after he was shot?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was indicted by the Orangeburg County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. See, Indictment no. 2011-GS-38-1833. He was represented in the trial court by Virgin Johnson and Corey L. Williams, of the Orangeburg County Bar. The Appellant proceeded to trial by jury on August 14 – 16, 2102. The State was represented at trial by Assistant Solicitors Donald Sorenson and Harrison Bell. At the conclusion of this trial, the Appellant was found guilty as indicted and was sentenced by the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, presiding circuit court judge, to a term of thirty-five (35) years incarceration.

The Appellant served and filed a timely Notice of Appeal from his judgment and sentence. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

**Did the trial court err, and thereby violate the Appellant's right to confront his accusers, by admitting into evidence hearsay testimony concerning statements made by the victim-deceased to a law enforcement officer after he was shot?**

At trial, the Appellant made a motion pursuant to *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004) that any testimony concerning statements attributed to the victim-deceased be excluded. The Appellant argued that admission of testimony concerning these statements, where the victim was not available for cross-examination, would violate his rights pursuant to the confrontation clause of the United States Constitution. The Appellant cited *State v. Gardner*<sup>1</sup> and *Rule 803, SCRE*, in support of his position that the testimony in question would be prejudicial hearsay. The Appellant further argued that the statements in question should not be admitted as dying declarations where there was no reliable evidence from which it could be determined that the victim-deceased actually believed he was dying. Defense Counsel argued that the fact that the victim-deceased, who was known to be a drug dealer, did not want to give his name to the police, was evidence that he was capable of reflective thought at the time. This fact, the Appellant argued, directly evidenced that the victim-deceased was capable of reflective thought at the time the statements were made. Likewise, it was argued that the statements in questions were not spontaneous utterances but rather, were made in response to questioning by a sergeant with the South Carolina State University Police Department; Kendra Williams. ROA p. 4, line 11 – p. 7, line 15. In response to the Appellant's motion, the State argued that *Crawford*, supra, should not apply because the statements were not testimonial in nature. ROA p. 9 lines 12-22.

Testimony from Sergeant Williams was presented *in camera*. She testified that when she arrived at the scene the victim-deceased was in the back of an ambulance. ROA p. 14, lines 10 –

---

<sup>1</sup> The record reflects that Counsel cited to *State v. Gardner*, however, based upon the content of his argument, Appellant asserts that this is a probable reference to *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 697 S.E.2d 615 (Ct. App. 2012).

23. He had a gunshot wound to his right chest and another wound on his left side. ROA p. 15, lines 5 – 11. According to Sgt. Williams, he appeared to be in a lot of pain. She said, “[h]e was frantic, he was rolling back and forth, he was scared, he kept saying, get me to the hospital, I’m going to die. He was, he was scared.” ROA p. 15, lines 14 – 19.

According to this witness, she asked the victim if he had been robbed and he shook his head, yes. She asked him if he had been in the parking lot of Queen’s Village and he once again nodded, yes. She asked him if he saw who robbed him and he indicated that he did by shaking his head. She then asked him how many people robbed him and he held up four fingers. When she asked, “four?” he shook his head, yes. Although he supposedly shook his head yes in response to the question about whether he saw the gun that shot him, he shook his head “no” when asked if the gun was black or silver. ROA p. 16, lines 2- 13. She testified that the victim was having a really hard time speaking and that he mostly just shook his head to answer questions. She did claim that he said he was in pain and that he was going to die. ROA p. 16, lines 11 – 21. On cross-examination, Sgt. Williams acknowledged that she had given a statement to Investigator John Johnson with SLED. She said that she had told him everything that happened, “if I recall.” ROA p. 18, lines 6 – 14. She admitted that in her statement to SLED

- She did not say the victim was frantic;
- She did not say that he had said “get me to the hospital”;
- She did not say that the victim was scared;

ROA p. 18, line 3 – p. 18, line 12.

Sgt. Williams also acknowledged that when she first spoke to the victim he would not tell her his name. ROA p. 22, line 24 – p. 23, line 4. In response to the testimony of Sgt. Williams, Trial Counsel noted that in the statement she gave to SLED, Sgt. Williams reported that the victim said, “get me to the hospital because I’m shot, I’m hurt.”, as opposed to, “I’m going to die” as she claimed in court. ROA p. 24, lines 10 – 14. The Appellant renewed his objections to

the admission of this testimony on the ground that it clearly wasn't an excited utterance nor was it a dying declaration. Trial Counsel argued that the statements in question were more prejudicial than probative under Rule 403, SCRE. ROA p. 23, line 21 – p. 25, line 8. The State argued that the fact that the victim was in pain, and wanting to get to the hospital, coupled with the fact that he thought he was about to die, made these statements non-testimonial. The State additionally argued that since the victim did not name the Appellant in any of these statements to Sgt. Williams, the statements were not prejudicial to the Appellant. ROA p. 25, line 12 – p. 26, line 22.

Ultimately, the trial judge acknowledged that he had questions about whether, or not, it would be a dying declaration because the statement this witness gave to SLED after interviewing the victim, did not contain the statement about “*needing to get to the hospital, I’m going to die.*” The judge noted that he had “*an issue with whether or not it’s a dying declaration*” and he declined to decide the admissibility of this testimony on that issue. ROA p. 27, line 24 – p. 28, line 5. The trial court found however, that the statements in question were excited utterances and ruled that, as such, they were admissible. ROA p. 28, lines 5 – 24. Trial Counsel challenged the notion that a nodding of the head could qualify as an excited utterance however, the trial court found non-verbal communication could constitute an excited utterance. ROA p. 28, lines 4 – 14. In addition, Trial Counsel noted that Sgt. Williams was not able to say how close in time these statements were made to the shooting. Also, Trial Counsel objected to the position that someone being in pain would qualify as a foundation for a finding that a statement was an excited utterance. ROA p. 29, line 15 – p. 30, line 12.

The State subsequently asked the trial court to rule on whether the statements in question were testimonial in nature. ROA p. 30, lines 13 – 17. The trial court then stated for the record,

Okay. I’m going to let it in, I say it will be non-testimonial and let it in. It’s just part of the excited utterance at the time, whether or not—you know, the purpose of letting an excited utterance in is that he doesn’t have time for any kind of reflective thought. And so, right now, this is a

gentleman that's just been robbed and shot, he's in an ambulance, and I don't think based on the testimony I heard that he had time to have much reflection about what was going on so he could make up a story. Okay? He was just answering questions that were put to him by a police officer trying to get to the bottom of the situation.

ROA p. 30, line 18 – p. 31, line 3.

In response to this ruling, the Appellant asked the Court to note, once again, that the fact that this witness refused to give his name to the officer interviewing him was evidence of reflective thought. ROA p. 31, lines 9 – 12. The Court responded, “But, I do believe it's an excited utterance.” ROA p. 31, line 20.

The testimony of Sgt. Williams in the presence of the jury was largely consistent with her testimony *in camera*. In her testimony in camera she indicated that the victim shook his head and indicated yes when she asked him if he had seen the weapon. She said that when she asked him if the weapon was black or silver, he “*kept shaking his head, no.*” ROA p. 16, lines 7 – 13.

In her testimony in the presence of the jury, she added that she had asked him if the gun was a revolver and he answered yes. ROA p. 58, lines 10 – 11. With this exception, her trial testimony was consistent with her *in camera* testimony on the operative points concerning the circumstances surrounding this shooting. ROA p. 57, lines 17 – 21 and ROA p. 58, lines 1 – 14.

The Supreme Court of the United States has found that testimonial hearsay against a defendant violates the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution if 1) the declarant is unavailable to testify at trial and 2) the accused has had no prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. *Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 54, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004)*. As recognized by the Court in *Crawford*, “not all hearsay implicates the Sixth Amendment.” *Id, 541 U.S. at 51*. On the other hand, otherwise admissible hearsay testimony may be rendered inadmissible if it is testimonial in nature. *Id, 541 U.S. at 68*. Thus, if a statement is testimonial in nature, it is not admissible simply because it would otherwise fall under a recognized exception to the hearsay rule. On the other hand, the fact that a statement is not testimonial, does not render it admissible

simply because it does not infringe upon the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation. *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 697 S.E.2d 615 (Ct. App. 2012). Where non-testimonial hearsay is at issue, the Sixth Amendment is not implicated. *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 113, 644 S.E.2d 684, 689 (2007). In discussing what the standard for determining whether a statement is testimonial should be, the high court stated, “we leave for another day any effort to spell out a comprehensive definition of ‘testimonial.’ Whatever else the term covers, it applies at a minimum to prior testimony at a preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or at a former trial; and to police interrogations.” *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 68. The Court went on to find that “[w]here testimonial statements are at issue, the only indicium of reliability sufficient to satisfy constitutional demands is the one the Constitution actually prescribes: confrontation.” *Id.* at 68-69. South Carolina has clearly recognized that a statement that would otherwise be admissible under an exception to the hearsay rule is inadmissible if it is testimonial nature. In *State v. Mitchell*, 378 S.C. 305, 662 S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 2009), a prior statement to police which would have been admissible as a statement against penal interest under Rules 804(a)(2) and (b)(3), SCRE, where the declarant refused to testify, was found by the Court of Appeals to violate the confrontation clauses of both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. *U.S.C.A. Cont. Amend. 6 and 14 and S.C. Cont. Art. I, §14*. Our Supreme Court has held that a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses is not per se reversible error. *State v. Davis*, 371 S.C. 170, 181, 638 S.E.2d 57, 63 (2006)

On the facts of this case, the statements attributed to the victim-deceased should have been excluded from evidence inasmuch as they were testimonial in nature and the declarant would not be available for cross-examination. The testimony presented during the Appellant’s trial established that drugs were found in the victim’s car. ROA p. 70, lines 4-5. Multiple state witnesses would ultimately testify that the victim was a drug dealer. Despite the fact that he was seriously injured, the fact remains that he made the statements in question while being

questioned by a law enforcement officer concerning the circumstances surrounding his shooting. He made those statements under circumstances where an objective witness would reasonably believe that the statement would be available for later use at a trial. *Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51-52*. On these facts, the statements attributed to the victim by Sgt. Williams were testimonial and their introduction violated the confrontation clauses of both United States Constitution and the South Carolina State Constitution. *U.S.C.A. Cont. Amend.6 and 14 and S.C. Cont. Art. I, §14. See also, State v, Green, 269 S.C. 657, 661, 239 S.E.2d 485, 487 (1977)*.

The trial court appears to have concluded that the statements in questions were admissible because the circumstances surrounding these statements met the criterion for the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. Assuming *arguendo* that they would, this fact would not render the statements admissible in light of the fact that they were testimonial. As previously noted, otherwise admissible hearsay may be rendered inadmissible if it is testimonial.

Even if this Honorable Court were to conclude that the statements in questions were not testimonial in nature, the Appellant would submit that the circumstances under which they were made did not meet the standard for admission as an excited utterance. Rule 803(2) defines an excited utterance as a,

**[s]tatement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.**

A court must consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance hearsay exception and the determination in such matters is generally left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 43-44, 515 S.E. 525, 530(1999)*. The rationale behind the excited utterance exception is that “the startling event suspends the process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication.” *State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006)*. As argued by the Appellant at trial, the victim-deceased in this case, knowing he had drugs in his car, refused to give his name to

Sgt. Williams. Such a ploy clearly evidences reflective thought and therefore, establishes that the statements in questions were no made while the victim's state of mind was such that he was incapable of reflective thought and therefore, less likely to fabricate. Hiding your identity in fear of the police is not an action one would expect to see in a person who wasn't expecting to be around to suffer the consequences of their unlawful behavior.