ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JULIAN C. YOUNG,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2012-213006.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100237

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

DAVID M. PASCOE
Solicitor, First Circuit
140 N. Main Street, Suite 102
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 871-2640
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err, nor did it violate Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause, when it admitted into evidence hearsay testimony concerning an excited utterance or dying declaration made by Victim to a law enforcement officer after Victim was shot.

Introduction

Victim's statement to Officer Kendra Williams was non-testimonial. Thus, the admission of Williams's testimony regarding that statement did not violate Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. Even if the statement was not properly admitted, the admission was harmless error. Moreover, the statement was properly admitted under a hearsay exception.

Standard of Review

Confrontation Clause

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The United States Supreme Court has held that this provision bars "admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was available to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 53–54 (2004). According to the Supreme Court

when a court must determine whether the Confrontation Clause bars the admission of a statement at trial, it should determine the "primary purpose of the interrogation" by objectively evaluating the statements and actions of the parties to the encounter, in light of the circumstances in which the interrogation occurs. The existence of an emergency or the parties' perception that an emergency is ongoing is among the most important circumstances that courts must take into account in determining whether an interrogation is testimonial because statements made to assist police in addressing an ongoing emergency presumably lack the testimonial purpose that would subject them to the requirement of confrontation.

Michigan v. Bryant, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 1143, 1162 (2011).

“A violation of the Confrontation Clause is not *per se* reversible but is subject to a harmless error analysis.” *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 375, 731 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012) (citing *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 813, 822 (2006)).

“Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors The factors include the importance of the witness’s testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.”

Id. (quoting *Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. at 684).

Hearsay

Hearsay “is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. In general, hearsay is not admissible for purposes of trial; however, there are a number of exceptions. *See* Rule 802, SCRE. For example, S.C. R. Evid. 803(2) provides that “[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition” is not excluded. That exception is known as the excited utterance exception. *See* Rule 803(2), SCRE. Another exception, known as the dying declaration exception, provides that “[i]n a prosecution for homicide or in a civil action or proceeding, a statement made by a declarant while believing that the declarant’s death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death” is not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable. Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE.

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion

accompanied by probable prejudice.” *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 494–95 (2013) (quoting *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* at 349, 737 S.E.2d at 495 (quoting *Douglas*, 369 S.C. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848)).

How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

Before trial began, defense counsel moved to have Williams’s testimony concerning her conversation with Victim excluded. (R. p. 3, line 24–p. 7, line 16). Defense counsel argued before the trial court (1) that the testimony would violate Appellant’s rights under the Confrontation Clause, (2) that the testimony was inadmissible hearsay and was not admissible under the excited utterance exception, and (3) that the testimony was inadmissible hearsay and was not admissible under the dying declaration exception. (R. p. 3, line 24–p. 7, line 16). Defense counsel also submitted a brief to the court providing case law in support of their arguments and additionally asserting that Williams’s testimony was inherently prejudicial. (R. pp. 407–12).

In response, the State argued that the evidence was not testimonial because it “wasn’t information that was given in . . . anticipation of litigation.” (R. p. 9, lines 12–17). As to whether the testimony was admissible under a hearsay exception, the State asserted that it would be up to the court to decide whether Victim’s statement to Williams was an excited utterance or a dying declaration. (R. p. 9, line 17–p. 10, line 2).

The trial court then heard Williams’s testimony *in camera*. (R. p. 13, line 1–p. 23, line 9). On direct examination Williams testified that she spoke with Victim in the back of an ambulance. (R. p. 15, lines 1–8). Williams observed that Victim had a gunshot wound to his

right chest area and another wound on his left side. (R. p. 15, lines 8–11). Williams described Victim’s demeanor as “frantic[. H]e was rolling back and forth[;] he was scared[;] he kept saying, [‘]get me to the hospital, I’m going to die.[’] He was, he was scared. . . . He appeared to be in a lot of pain.” (R. p. 15, lines 14–19). Williams then described her conversation with Victim:

I asked [Victim] if he had been robbed, and he shook his head, yes. I asked him if he had been in the parking lot of Queen’s Village, and he shook his head, yes. And I asked him if he saw who robbed him, and he shook his head, yes. I asked him how many? And he stuck his hand up and had four fingers up. I said, four? He shook his head, yes. I asked him if, you know, if he saw the weapon. He shook his head. . . .

....

. . . . I asked him if the weapon was silver or black. At that time he was, kept shaking his head, no. And there were some other questions that I asked him, but he did tell me that he lived in Queen’s Village. He did tell me that he saw the person who shot him. He told me there was four of them, but most of it was just him shaking his head. He, if he took any kind of effort to speak he would just shake his head and kept saying he’s in pain, he couldn’t talk he was having a hard time talking, real frantic, still saying, you know, get me to the hospital, I’m going to die.

(R. p. 16, lines 2–21).

When asked on cross-examination how long after the incident occurred did Williams get to the scene, she responded that she would have to look at the time. (R. p. 22, lines 10–12).

Williams also testified that when she initially spoke with Victim, he would not tell her his name. (R. p. 22, line 24–p. 23, line 4).

Following Williams’s *in camera* testimony, defense counsel argued that Victim’s statement was not an excited utterance because Williams was asking Victim questions—he was not just blurting the information out. (R. p. 23, line 21–p. 24, line 7). Additionally, defense counsel argued that there was nothing about Victim’s situation that was startling. (R. p. 24, lines

1-7). Defense counsel then argued that Victim's statement was not a dying declaration because Williams did not put in her statement, which she gave to SLED the day after she spoke with Victim, that Victim told her that he thought he was dying. (R. p. 24, lines 7-14). Defense counsel also argued that the statement was more prejudicial than probative and that it should have been excluded under S.C. R. Evid. 403. (R. p. 24, line 14-p. 25, line 8).

The State then argued that, looking at the totality of the circumstances, Victim's statement was non-testimonial. (R. p. 25, line 12-p. 26, line 1). The State further argued that Victim's statement was admissible as either a dying declaration or an excited utterance. (R. p. 25, lines 1-15). As to the issue of prejudice, the State pointed out that Victim did not even identify Appellant by name in his statement—he merely confirmed that he had been robbed by four people. (R. p. 25, lines 16-22).

Defense counsel replied that it was prejudicial because one of those four men was the defendant. (R. p. 27, lines 12-16). Defense counsel then went into more depth with his arguments concerning whether Victim's statement was either a dying declaration or an excited utterance. (R. p. 27, line 16-p. 30, line 1).

Judge Dickson found the testimony to be admissible, specifying that "because he is in the ambulance after he had just been shot and robbed, he's still under a stressful event at that point."

(R. p. 30, lines 2-4). Upon prompting by the State, Judge Dickson clarified his ruling, stating

I'm going to let it in, I say it will be non-testimonial and let it in. It's just part of his excited utterance at the time, whether or not—you know, the purpose of letting an excited utterance in is that he doesn't have time for any kind of reflective thought. And so, right now, this is a gentleman that's just been robbed and shot, he's in an ambulance, and I don't think based on the testimony I heard that he had time to have much reflection about what was going on so he could make up a story.

(R. p. 30, line 13-p. 31, line 3).

Analysis

Confrontation Clause

Respondent submits that Victim's statement to Williams was non-testimonial, and, thus, admission of that statement did not violate Appellant's constitutional rights. Appellant, on the other hand, argues that Victim "made those statements under circumstances where an objective witness would reasonably believe that the statement would be available for later use at a trial." (Final Br. of Appellant at 11). Respondent disagrees.

The facts under which Victim made his statement are substantially similar to those in another case, *Michigan v. Bryant*, __ U.S. __, 131 S.Ct. 1143 (2011), in which the United States Supreme Court found that a gunshot victim's statement to police was non-testimonial. In *Bryant*, the Supreme Court described the circumstances surrounding the victim's statement as "a nondomestic dispute, involving a victim found in a public location, suffering from a fatal gunshot wound, and a perpetrator whose location was unknown at the time the police located the victim." 131 S.Ct. at 1156. That description is on all fours with the circumstances in which Victim spoke to Officer Williams in this case.³

In deciding whether the primary purpose of the victim's statement was to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency, the Court in *Bryant* "first examine[d] the circumstances in which the interrogation occurred." *Id.* at 1163. As part of the analysis, the

³ There are a few slight differences between the facts in *Bryant* and those in the instant case. For example, in *Bryant*, police spoke to the victim before emergency medical services had arrived. 131 S.Ct. at 1150. Also, in *Bryant*, the victim identified the person who had shot him when he spoke to the police, but he did not indicate the cause of the shooting. *Id.* at 1150, 1163-64.

Court noted that when the police questioned the victim, they did not know, and the victim did not tell them, if the threat was limited to the victim. *Id.* at 1163–64. The Court also explained that because the *Bryant* case involved a gun, “[t]he physical separation that was sufficient to end the emergency in [a domestic violence case where fists were the weapon] was not necessarily sufficient to end the threat in this case.” *Id.* at 1164. Also, the Court considered that the police in *Bryant* did not know the location of the shooter when they questioned the victim. *Id.* The Court then looked at the statement by the victim and the questions by the police. *Id.* at 1165. As to the victim, “[h]is answers to the police officers’ questions were punctuated with questions about when emergency medical services would arrive. He was obviously in considerable pain and had difficulty breathing and talking.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted). On the other hand, “[t]he questions [the police] asked—what had happened, who had shot him, and where the shooting had occurred, were the exact type of questions necessary to allow the police to assess the situation, the threat to their own safety, and the possible danger to the potential victim.” *Id.* at 1166 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Finally, the Court considered the informality of the situation, which in the *Bryant* case was “fluid and somewhat confused.” *Id.* The Court found that “[t]he informality suggest[ed] that the interrogators’ primary purpose was simply to address what they perceived to be an ongoing emergency, and the circumstances lacked any formality that would have alerted [the victim] to or focused him on the possible future prosecutorial use of his statements.” *Id.* Based on its assessment of the facts in *Bryant*, the Court ultimately concluded that the victim’s statement was not testimonial and that admission of the statement did not violate the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 1167.

Respondent submits that the circumstances analyzed by the Supreme Court in *Bryant* are substantially similar to the circumstances surrounding Victim’s statements to Williams, and, like

the Court in *Bryant*, this Court should find that Victim's statements were non-testimonial and, thus, admission of the statements did not violate Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. Like in *Bryant*, when Williams spoke to Victim, she did not know if the threat was limited to him. Also like in *Bryant*, this case involved a shooter, whose whereabouts were unknown at the time Williams spoke with Victim. When Williams questioned Victim, she sought to find out where Victim had been at the time of the shooting, what had instigated the shooting, how many people had been involved in the shooting, and if Victim knew any details about the gun that had been used. All of these questions indicate that Williams's primary purpose in speaking with Victim was to address the ongoing emergency—namely, the situation of having an unknown shooter on the SC State campus. Like the victim in *Bryant*, here, Victim was clearly in considerable pain. While Appellant makes much of the fact that Victim would not tell Williams his name, the record reflects that Victim mostly responded to Williams's inquiries by nodding his head, which is not surprising considering Victim was suffering from a gunshot wound to his abdomen. In Williams's own words, "if [Victim] took any kind of effort to speak he would just shake his head and kept saying he's in pain, he couldn't talk he was having a hard time talking, real frantic, still saying, you know, get me to the hospital, I'm going to die." (R. p. 16, lines 17–21). Finally, the informality of the conversation between Williams and Victim did not put Victim on notice that his statement would be for future prosecutorial use. For the same reasons that the Court in *Bryant* found the victim's statement to be non-testimonial, Respondent submits that Victim's statement in the instant case, too, is non-testimonial.

Respondent submits that even if this Court finds that Victim's statement was testimonial, the admission of the statement through Williams's testimony at trial was harmless error. Foremost, Victim did not even identify Appellant as the shooter when he communicated with

Williams. Victim merely confirmed that the shooting happened in Queen's Village, that he had been robbed, that there had been four people, and that he had seen the gun. Appellant argues that Victim's statement was particularly prejudicial because "[a]bsent these statements, there was no other evidence that the victim in this case was robbed prior to his shooting. . . . If anything, the testimony of all the states [sic] other witnesses left as a mystery what happened in the moments preceding the victim's shooting." (FBOA at 12). Respondent disagrees. Though the eyewitnesses to the shooting could not see exactly what happened in Victim's car that night, they observed Appellant leaning in Victim's vehicle and tussling with Victim, and they observed Victim trying to reverse while Appellant was still in the car immediately before they heard a gunshot. Additionally, investigators found money and bags of marijuana in the passenger side of Victim's car and on the ground at the location of the shooting. Respondent submits that the combination of this circumstantial evidence suggests that Appellant attempted to rob Victim. Finally, the State's case was strong even without Victim's statement. As such, if the Court finds that Victim's statement was testimonial, admission of the statement through Williams's testimony was harmless error.

Excited Utterance

Victim's statement was properly admitted under the excited utterance exception to the general hearsay rule.

Three elements must be met in order for a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition.

State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008) (citing *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007)). "The rationale underlying the excited utterance

exception is that ‘the startling event suspends the declarant’s process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication.’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Davis*, 371 S.C. 170, 178, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006)). In determining whether a statement is admissible under the excited utterance exception, a court must consider the totality of the circumstances. *Id.*

In this case the court considered “the totality of the circumstances” and decided to admit Victim’s statement to Williams under the excited utterance exception. (R. p. 28, lines 4–24). The court did not abuse its discretion as the South Carolina Supreme Court has “generally allowed as excited utterances statements made by the victim to the police immediately following a physical attack.” *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 43, 515 S.E.2d 525, 530 (1999). In this case, though Williams was unsure of how long after the shooting occurred she spoke to Victim, he was in the ambulance and still at the scene when she questioned him. Respondent submits that such proximity is sufficient considering the circumstances of this case. *See State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 327, 247 S.E.2d 334, 336–37 (1978) (concluding that a statement given while declarant was “still under the stress and pain of the assault” would be admissible under the excited utterance exception though the statement was given in excess of one hour after the incident).

Appellant argues that the statement evidenced reflective thought because Victim would not tell Williams his name, and, thus, the statement was not an excited utterance. However, the trial court rejected that argument, stating

this is a gentleman that’s just been robbed and shot, he’s in an ambulance, and I don’t think based on the testimony I heard that he had time to have much reflection about what was going on so he could make up a story. . . . He was just answering questions that were posed to him by a police officer trying to get to the bottom of the situation.

(R. p. 30, line 23–p. 31, line 3). Indeed, Victim’s refusal to give his name could be a result of the considerable pain that he was feeling, as opposed to an indication that he was trying to hide his

identity. As previously discussed, Williams testified that any time Victim attempted to speak, he would start shaking his head and complaining of his pain. Consequently, during Williams's conversation with Victim, he gave "[v]ery, very few" audible responses—again, not surprising considering he was suffering from a gunshot wound to his abdomen. (R. p. 62, lines 22–23). Respondent submits that the continuing stress of the attack makes Victim's statement to Williams inherently reliable. *See State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 95, 544 S.E.2d 30, 34–35 (2001) (finding victim's statement to a nurse while she was still under the continuing stress of being stabbed seven times in the abdomen and having her throat slit was inherently reliable because there was no time for the victim to reflect on the event).

Appellant additionally takes issue with the fact that Victim's statement was the result of questions posed by Williams. Appellant asserts that Williams "questioned the injured man in a manner which suggested an answer." (FBOA at 12). Respondent disagrees that Williams's questions suggested an answer—for the most part, Williams's questions allowed Victim to respond by nodding yes or no, but Williams did not suggest an answer. Additionally, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has previously found statements made in response to questions to be admissible under the excited utterance exception. For example, in *State v. McHoney*, the Court found the statement of a victim, whose throat had been slit, to be admissible under the excited utterance exception. 344 S.C. at 94–95, 544 S.E.2d at 34–35. In *McHoney* the victim was unable to speak, but she nodded in response to questions asked by a nurse—questions including if victim knew her attacker, if victim's family knew her attacker, if victim's attacker lived in her neighborhood, and if victim's boyfriend was the attacker. *Id.* at 89–90, 544 S.E.2d at 32. In another case, the Court found that a trial court did not err in admitting a son's statement concerning who murdered his mother under the excited utterance exception. *State v. Sims*, 348

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